
1 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 

CASE NO. 

 

 

 

JAMES ALDERMAN, on behalf of himself 

and all others similarly situated  

 

 Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

GC SERVICES LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, 

a Delaware Limited Partnership  

 

 Defendant. 

_________________________________________/ 

 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

 

1. Plaintiff, James Alderman, alleges violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices 

Act, 15 U.S.C. §1692 et seq. (“FDCPA”).  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §1331, and 15 U.S.C. §1692k. Venue 

in this District is proper because Plaintiff resides here and Defendant conducts business in this 

District. 

PARTIES 

3. Plaintiff, James Alderman (“Plaintiff”), is a natural person, and citizen of the State 

of Florida, residing in Indian River County, Florida. 

4. Defendant, GC Services Limited Partnership (“Defendant”), is a Delaware Limited 

Partnership engaged in the business of collecting consumer debts, which operates from offices 

located at 6330 Gulfton Street, Houston, Texas 77081. 
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5. Defendant regularly uses the United States Postal Service and telephone in the 

collection of consumer debt. 

6.  Defendant regularly collects or attempts to collect debts for other parties.  

Defendant is a “debt collector” as defined in the FDCPA.  

7. At all times material to the allegations of this complaint, Defendant was acting as a 

debt collector with respect to the collection of Plaintiff’s alleged debt. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

8. Defendant sought to collect from Plaintiff an alleged debt incurred by Plaintiff for 

personal, family, or household purposes; more specifically, the debt at issue was a delinquent credit 

card debt. 

9. On or about March 30, 2016, Defendant sent a demand letter to Plaintiff seeking to 

collect an alleged debt due to Synchrony Bank.  (The “Demand Letter” is attached hereto as 

“Exhibit 1”). 

10. The Demand Letter was Defendant’s initial communication with respect to the debt 

alleged therein.  

11. The Defendant’s Demand Letter stated in part:  

As of the date of this letter, our records show you owe a balance of 

$4,884.00 to Synchrony Bank.  If you dispute this balance or the 

validity of this debt, please let us know in writing.  If you do not 

dispute this debt in writing within 30 days after you receive this 

letter, we will assume this debt is valid.   

 

 

However, if you do dispute all or any portion of this debt in writing 

within 30 days of receiving this letter, we will obtain verification of 

the debt from our client and send it to you.  Or, if within 30 days of 

receiving this letter you request in writing the name and address of 

the original creditor, we will provide it to you in the event it differs 

from our client, Synchrony Bank.    
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12. Pursuant 15 U.S.C §1692g(a) Defendant must provide Plaintiff with:  

Validation of debts.  

(a) Notice of debt; contents   

 

Within five days after the initial communication with a consumer in 

connection with the collection of any debt, a debt collector shall, 

unless the following information is contained in the initial 

communication or the consumer has paid the debt, send the 

consumer a written notice containing- 

 

(1) the amount of the debt; 

 

(2) the name of the creditor to whom the debt is owed; 

 

(3) a statement that unless the consumer, within thirty days 

after receipt of the notice, disputes the validity of the debt, 

or any portion thereof, the debt will be assumed to be valid 

by the debt collector;  

 

(4) a statement that if the consumer notifies the debt collector in 

writing within the thirty-day period that the debt, or any portion 

thereof, is disputed, the debt collector will obtain verification of 

the debt or a copy of a judgment against the consumer and a copy 

of such verification or judgment will be mailed to the consumer 

by the debt collector; and  

 

(5) a statement that, upon the consumer’s written request within the 

thirty-day period, the debt collector will provide the consumer 

with the name and address of the original creditor, if different 

from the current creditor. 

 

(emphasis added) 

 

13. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10) states: 

A debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading 

representation or means in connection with the collection of any 

debt.  Without limiting the general application of the foregoing, the 

following conduct is a violation of this section: 

    xxxx  

(10) The use of any false representation or deceptive means to 

collect or attempt to collect any debt or to obtain information 

concerning a consumer.  
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14. Defendant’s Demand Letter falsely and misleadingly states that Plaintiff must 

dispute the debt in writing despite the clear wording of 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(3) which contains no 

writing requirement in order for the consumer to dispute the debt. 

15. Any potential bona fide error defense which relies upon Defendant’s mistaken 

interpretation of the legal duties imposed upon it by the FDCPA would fail as a matter of law. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

AS TO DEFENDANT 
 

16. This action is brought on behalf of a Class consisting of (i) all persons with 

addresses in the State of Florida (ii) to whom letters that contained the language: “If you dispute 

this balance or the validity of this debt, please let us know in writing.  If you do not dispute this 

debt in writing within 30 days after you receive this letter, we will assume this debt is valid.” (iii) 

were mailed, delivered or caused to be served by the Defendant (iv) that were not returned 

undeliverable by the U.S. Post Office (v) in an attempt to collect a debt incurred for personal, 

family, or household purposes (vi) during the one-year period prior to the filing of the original 

Complaint in this action through the date of certification. 

17. Plaintiff alleges on information and belief based upon the Defendant’s use of the 

phrase: “If you dispute this balance or the validity of this debt, please let us know in writing.  If 

you do not dispute this debt in writing within 30 days after you recvive this letter, we will assume 

this debt is valid.”  in its letters served upon the Class is so numerous that joinder of all members 

of the Class is impractical.   

18. There are questions of law or fact common to the Class, which common issues 

predominate over any issues involving only individual Class members. The factual issue common 

to each Class member is that each was served with a letter by Defendant that contained the phrase: 

“If you dispute this balance or the validity of this debt, please let us know in writing.  If you do 
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not dispute this debt in writing within 30 days after you receive this letter, we will assume this 

debt is valid.”  that required disputes of debts to be in writing.  The common principal legal issue 

is whether Defendant’s wording violated the FDCPA by misleading the least sophisticated 

consumer to believe that they were being given the correct validation notice required by 15 U.S.C. 

§1692g after an “initial communication” by a debt collector that does not require all disputes of 

the debt to be in writing.  

19. Plaintiff’s claim is typical of those of the Class members.  All are based on the same 

facts and legal theories. 

20. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class.  He has retained 

counsel experienced in handling actions involving unlawful practices under the FDCPA and Class 

actions. Neither Plaintiff nor his counsel has any interests which might cause them not to 

vigorously pursue this action. 

21. Certification of the Class under Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure is also appropriate in that: 

(1) The questions of law or fact common to the members of the class 

predominate over any questions affecting an individual member. 

(2) A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair 

and efficient adjudication of the controversy. 

22. Plaintiff requests certification of a Class under Rule 23(b)(3), of the Federal Rules 

of Civil Procedure, for monetary damages; his appointment as Class Representative; and that his 

attorney Leo W. Desmond be appointed Class Counsel. 
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COUNT I 

 

VIOLATION OF 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(3) 

CLASS CLAIM AGAINST DEFENDANT 

 

23. Plaintiff incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 15. 

24. 15 U.S.C. §1692g(a)(3) states after an initial communication the Defendant must 

provide Plaintiff with:  

(3) [A] a statement that unless the consumer, within thirty days after 

receipt of the notice, disputes the validity of the debt, or any portion 

thereof, the debt will be assumed to be valid by the debt collector;  

 

25. Defendant sent a Demand Letter to Plaintiff on behalf of Synchrony Bank in an 

attempt to collect a consumer debt, namely to collect an alleged debt due to Plaintiff’s Sam’s Club 

MasterCard Account. 

26. By claiming to have given Plaintiff the information required by the FDPCA, 

Defendant has attempted to mislead Plaintiff and the Class into believing that the Demand Letter 

contained the proper notice required under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act. 

27. Defendant’s Demand Letter states the consumer must dispute the debt in writing 

despite the clear wording of 15 U.S.C. §1692g(a)(3) which contains no writing requirement in 

order for the consumer to dispute the debt. 

28. As a result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to an award 

of statutory damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1692k. 

29. As a result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to an award 

of costs and attorney fees pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1692k. 

COUNT II 

 

VIOLATION OF 15 U.S.C. § 1692e 

CLASS CLAIM AGAINST DEFENDANT  

 

30. Plaintiff re-alleges Paragraphs 1 through 15 and Paragraphs 24 through 27. 
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31. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e states: 

A debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading 

representation or means in connection with the collection of any 

debt.  Without limiting the general application of the foregoing, the 

following conduct is a violation of this section: 

    xxxx 

(10) The use of any false representation or deceptive means to 

collect or attempt to collect any debt or to obtain information 

concerning a consumer.  

32. Defendant sent a Demand Letter to Plaintiff on behalf of Synchrony Bank in an 

attempt to collect a consumer debt, namely to collect an alleged debt due to Plaintiff’s Sam’s Club 

MasterCard Account. 

33. Defendant’s Demand Letter incorrectly states that Plaintiff and the Class must 

dispute the debt in writing despite the clear wording of 15 U.S.C. §1692g(a)(3) which contains no 

writing requirement in order for the consumer to dispute the debt. 

34. By claiming to have given Plaintiff the information required by the FDCPA,  

Defendant has attempted to mislead the Plaintiff and the Class into believing that the Demand 

Letter contained the proper notice required under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act. 

35. Defendant’s Demand Letter would be confusing and misleading to the least 

sophisticated consumer with regard to his/her legal rights as it states that the Plaintiff and the Class 

have to dispute the debt in writing despite the clear wording of 15 U.S.C. §1692g(a)(3) which 

contains no writing requirement in order for the consumer to dispute the debt.   

36. As a result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to an award 

of statutory damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1692k. 

37. As a result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to an award 

of costs and attorney’s fees pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1692k. 
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that the Court enter judgment in his favor against 

Defendant for: 

a.  An Order certifying this matter as a Class action and appointment of James 

Alderman as Class Representative as to all claims against Defendant; 

b. An Order appointing Leo W. Desmond as Class Counsel; 

c.  An award of statutory damages for Plaintiff and the Class pursuant to 15 U.S.C.  

§1692k for all Class claims; 

d. An award of attorney’s fees, litigation expenses and costs of the instant suit; and 

e. Such other or further relief as the Court deems proper. 

Dated: November 14, 2016.  

Respectfully submitted, 

DESMOND LAW FIRM, P.C. 

/s/ Leo W. Desmond 

LEO W. DESMOND, ESQ. 

Florida Bar No. 0041920 

5070 Highway A1A 

Suite D 

Vero Beach, FL  32963 

Telephone: 772-231-9600 

Facsimile:   772-231-0300 

lwd@verobeachlegal.com 

 

/s/ Sovathary K. Jacobson 

SOVATHARY K. JACOBSON, ESQ. 

Florida Bar No. 102200 

5070 Highway A1A 

Suite D 

Vero Beach, FL  32963 

Telephone: 772-231-9600 

Facsimile:   772-231-0300 

jacobson@verobeachlegal.com  

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
for the 

Southern District ofFlorida 

JAMES ALDERMAN, on behalf of himself and all 
others similarly situated, 

) 
) 
) 
) 

Plaintif!(s) 

v. 

) 
) 
) 

Civil Action No. 

GC SERVICES LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, ) 
a Delaware Limited Partnership ) 

) 
) 

Defendant(sj ) 

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION 

To: (Defendant's name and address) 	 GC SSERVICES LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
clo C T CORPORATION SYSTEM (REGISTERED AGENT) 
1200 S. PINE ISLAND ROAD 
PLANTATION, FL 33324 

A lawsuit has been filed against you. 

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) - or 60 days if you 
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ. 
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of 
the Federal Rules ofCivil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiffs attorney, 
whose name and address are: DESMOND LAW FIRM, P.C. 

LEO W. DESMOND, ESQ. 
5070 HIGHWAY A1A, SUITE D 
VERO BEACH. FL 32963 

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court. 

CLERK OF COURT 

Signature ofClerk or Deputy Clerk 
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2) 

Civil Action No. 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

(This section should not befiled with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (I)) 

This summons for (name ofindividual and title, ifany) 
~~---"'--"-'--"-"'-

was received by me on (date) 

o I personally served the summons on the individual at (place) 

on (date) ; or 

o I left the summons at the individual's residence or usual place ofabode with (name) 

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there, 

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual's last known address; or 
---~~----~-

o I served the summons on (name ofindiVidual) ,who is 

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name oforganization) 

on (date) ; or 

o I returned the summons unexecuted because 

o Other (specify); 

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00 

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true. 

Date: - ..--.. -~------------

Server's signature 

Printed name and title 

Server's address 

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc: 
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PO Box 1389 C Collection Agency Division

Copperas Cove TX 76522-5389 (877) 431-3767
RETURN SERVICE REQUESTED

SEND PAYMENT TO:

March 30, 2016
Synchrony Bank/Sam's Club
PO Box 960013

94566885 Orlando FL 32896-0013

1111111111111111111111HIPIPPIII'1111111111P'1101111111111
James Alderman
1408 25Th Ave
Vero Beach FL 32960-3266

Acct. ************0207
Balance Due: $4,884.00

***PLEASE DETACH AND RETURN THE UPPER PORTION OF THE STATEMENT WITH YOUR PAYMENT—

RE: Sam's Club® MasterCard® Account

Dear James Alderman,

Your Sam's Club® MasterCard@ Account, which was issued by and owed to Synchrony Bank, has been referred to
us by our client for collection. We wanted to take this opportunity to introduce ourselves and inform you of your
rights under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act.

As of the date of this letter, our records show you owe a balance of $4,884.00 to Synchrony Bank. If you dispute
this balance or the validity of this debt, please let us know in writing. If you do not dispute this debt in writing within
30 days after you receive this letter, we will assume this debt is valid.

However, if you do dispute all or any portion of this debt in writing within 30 days of receiving this letter, we will
obtain verification of the debt from our client and send it to you. Or, if within 30 days of receiving this letter you
request in writing the name and address of the original creditor, we will provide it to you in the event it differs from
our client, Synchrony Bank.

We look forward to working with you in resolving this account.

www.samsclub.com/credit

Sincerely,

Cindy Kreidler
Collection Manager

Balance Due: $4, 884.00 Acct. ************0207

This is a communication from a debt collector and is an attempt to collect a debt, any information obtained
will be used for that purpose.

NOTICE: SEE THE REVERSE SIDE FOR IMPORTANT CONSUMER INFORMATION
GC Services Limited Partnership Collection Agency Division 6330 Gulfton, Houston, TX 77081

056882
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California Residents: The state Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and the federal Fair Debt Collection
Practices Act require that, except under unusual circumstances, collectors may not contact you before 8 a.m. or after 9
p.m. They may not harass you by using threats of violence or arrest or by using obscene language. Collectors may not
use false or misleading statements or call you at work if they know or have reason to know that you may not receive
personal calls at work. For the most part, collectors may not tell another person, other than your attorney or spouse,
about your debt. Collectors may contact another person to confirm your location or enforce a judgment. For more

information about debt collection activities, you may contact the Federal Trade Commission at 1-877- FTC-Help or

http://www.ftc.gov.
Colorado Residents: FOR INFORMATION ABOUT THE COLORADO FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT,
SEE: WWVV.COAG.GOV/CAR. A consumer has the right to request in writing that a debt collector or collection agency
cease further communication with the consumer. A written request to cease communication will not prohibit the debt
collector or collection agency from taking any other action authorized by law to collect the debt. Our Colorado office is
located at 621 Seventeenth Street, Suite 2400, Denver, CO 80293. Toll Free Phone: 855-413-3038.
Massachusetts Residents: You may call us using the toll free phone number shown on the front of this letter. Our
normal business hours are 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. CT. Our local office in Massachusetts is located at 49 Winter St.,
Weymouth, MA 02188. The local office hours are 9:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. CT Monday Thursday.
Maine Residents: You may call us using the toll free phone number shown on the front of this letter. Our normal
business hours are 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. CT.
Minnesota Residents: This collection agency is licensed by the Minnesota Department of Commerce.
North Carolina Department of Insurance Permit Numbers:
Columbus 112786; Copperas Cove 112777; Elgin 112780; Irwindale 112782; Jacksonville 112776; Knoxville
112775; Oklahoma 112781; Phoenix 112779; San Antonio 112774; San Diego -112783; St. Louis 112787; Tucson

112785; Houston 112778; Huntington 112784.
Tennessee Residents: This collection agency is licensed by the Collection Service Board of the Department of
Commerce and Insurance.
Washington local office: Our local office in Washington is located at 926 North 14th Street, Mt. Vernon, WA 98273.
Wisconsin Residents: This collection agency is licensed by the Division of Banking in the Wisconsin Department of
Financial Institutions, www.wdfi.org.
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